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Q"n.c" February 18, 1997

IA 97-015

Mr. George W. Stewart
[HOME ADDRESS DELETED
UNDER 10 CFR 2.790]

SUBJECT: NOTICE OF VIOLATION
(NRC Inspection Report No. 030-20644/93-002 and
Investigation Report No. 1-93-069R)

Dear Mr. Stewart:

This refers to the inspection conducted on December 2-3, 1993, at the Power
Inspection, Inc., (PI) facility located in Wexford, Pennsylvania, as well as
the findings of a subsequent investigation by the NRC Office of Investigations
(0I). The inspection report and Ol Synopsis were sent to you with our letter
dated August 9, 1996. That letter also provided you with an opportunity to
attend a predecisional enforcement conference. We have yet to receive a
response from you to our letter and, therefore, the NRC is proceeding with
appropriate enforcement action.

Based on the information developed during the inspection and subsequent
investigation by OI, the NRC has determined that you were, in part,
responsible for a violation of NRC requirements that occurred involving PI.
The violation is cited in the enclosed Notice of Violation (Notice), and the
circumstances surrounding it are described in detail in the subject 0l
investigation report. The Ol investigation report indicated that PI
management directed the falsification of utilization logs. However, you did
no* object to performing the falsifications. A minimum of 38 radiography
utilization logs were subsequently falsely created by Pl employees, in
violation of 10 CFR 30.9 and 10 CFR 34.27, to satisfy questions which were
asked during an April 1993 NRC inspection. You were a radiographer for PI at
the time the falsification violations occurred, and you acknowledged to the 0l
investigator that you were involved in creating false source utilization logs.
As such, you caused the licensee to be in violation of NRC reyuirements and
therefore you violated 10 CFR 30.10, as described in the Notice.

As an individua)l engaged in NRC-licensed activities, you were in a position
that conferred upon you trust and confidence in your ability to ensure that
activities were conducted in accordance with NRC requirements, and information
required to be maintained by NRC requirements was complete and accurate in all
material respects. Your deliberate creation of false records is of
significant regulatory concern because it did not adhere to these standards,
and resulted in the violation of 10 CFR 30.10. Therefore, this violation has
been categorized in accordance with the "General Statement of Policy and
Procedure for NRC Enforcement Actions" (Enforcement Policy), NUREG-1600 at
Severity Level III.
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Mr. George W. Stewart 2

Given the significance of your actions, I have decided, after consultation
with the Commission, to issue to you the enclosed Notice of Violation. 1 also
gave serious consideration as to whether an Order should be issued that would
precluce you from any further involvement in NRC-licen.ed activities for a
certain period. However, | have decided under the circumstances of this case
that this Notice of Violation is sufficient.

You should be aware that the NRC’s regulations allow the issuance of orders
and other civil sanctions directly to unlicensed persons who, through their
deliberate misconduct, cause a licensee to be in violation of NRC
requirements. Deliberate misconduct includes an intentional act or omission
that the person knows constitutes a violation of a requirement, procedure or
training instruction. An order may also be issued to an individual to prevent
his or her engaging in licensed activities at all NRC-licensed facilities. A
violation of this regulation as set forth in 10 CFR 30.10, and 50.5,
"Deliberate Misconduct" (Enclosure 2), may also lead to criminal prosecution.
You are on notice that any similar conduct on your part in the future could
result in significant enforcement action against you.

You are required to respond to this letter and shoula follow the instructions
specified in the enclosed Notice when preparing your response. In your
response, you should document the specific actions taken and any additional
actions you plan to prevent recurrence, as well as your reasons as to why the
NRC should have confidence that you will comply with NRC requirements in the
future. After reviewing your response to this Notice, including your proposed
corrective actions, the NRC will determine whether further NRC enforcement
action is necessary to ensure compliz2nce with NRC regulatory requirements.

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.790 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of
this letter, its enclosure, and your response will be placed in the NRC Public
Document Room (PDR).

If you have any questions or comments, please contact Ms. Jenny Johansen,
Branch Chief, Nuclear Materials Safety Branch 3, at (610) 337-5304.

Sincerely,
o /// /
o /4 Pl m
Tdwérd |/ Jordan
Deputy Axecutive Director for
Regulatory Effectiveness, Program Oversight,

Investigations and Enforcement

Enclosures: 1. Notice of Violation
2. Deliberate Misconduct Ruie

P. Chambers, Power inspection, Inc.




